VIRUS SIGNALING AND APOPTOSIS IN THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM INFECTION

Dana Perkins

Calspan-University at Buffalo Research Center, Inc, Washington, DC and Dept. of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Viral modulation of neuronal signaling pathways in CNS pathogenesis
 - 3.1. Retroviridae
 - 3.2. Arboviruses
 - 3.2.1. Bunyaviridae
 - 3.2.2. Togaviridae
 - 3.2.3. Flaviviridae
 - 3.3. Picornaviridae
 - 3.4. Reoviridae
 - 3.5. Paramyxoviridae
 - 3.6. Myxoviridae
 - 3.7. Adenoviridae
 - 3.8. Rhabdoviridae
 - 3.9. Herpesviridae
 - 3.9.1. Non-simplex encephalitides
 - 3.9.2. HSV-1 and HSV-2
 - 3.9.2.1. HSV latency
 - 3.9.2.2. HSV infection of the CNS
- 4. Concluding Remarks
- 5. References

1. ABSTRACT

Viruses target the central nervous system (CNS) incidentally, due to complications of systemic infection, or specifically, by ascending via the axons of peripheral and cranial nerves. In the CNS, viruses cause acute disease (viz. encephalitis), latent infections or neurodegenerative pathology. Causation of acute disease or immune-mediated pathology, and virus involvement in the etiology of chronic neurodegenerative diseases depends, at least in part, on the ability to commandeer signaling pathways. Better understanding of these virus-host cell interactions will help identify molecular targets for the development of improved therapeutic strategies.

2. INTRODUCTION

Common clinical syndromes associated with acute virus infection of the CNS are encephalitis and meningitis. Many viruses cause encephalitis (Table 1), but the two most common in the US are herpes simplex (HSV) and rabies viruses (1). Members of the *Picornaviridae* family are the most common cause of meningitis in US (2). Persistent infection of the CNS is commonly associated with immune-mediated disease (3). Multiple sclerosis (MS), a disease of young adults, is characterized by the progressive accumulation of demyelination plaques within

the white matter of the CNS, predominantly in the periventricular white matter, optic nerve, brainstem, spinal cord, and cerebellum. Its viral etiology is supported by studies of animal models and by the abnormal immune response of MS patients to measles virus and human herpesvirus-6 (HHV-6) (4).

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a neurodegenerative disorder characterized by the progressive and irreversible deafferentation of the limbic system, association neocortex, and basal forebrain, accompanied by amyloid-beta (A-beta) plaque formation and neurofibrillary tangles. Spread of neurodegeneration to the intrahippocampal circuitry results in disconnection between the dentate granular cells and the CA3 region, the CA1 region and the subiculum, and impairment of learning and memory processes (5). Neuronal degeneration and cell death are common features of virus induced encephalitis as well as AD. Virus infection could lead to neuronal stress and contribute to the formation of AD plaques and neurofibrillary tangles via inflammatory responses or through the direct contribution of viral proteins. HSV-1 was implicated in the etiology of AD based on: (i) its ubiquitous nature (most people are infected before adulthood), (ii) overlapping HSV and AD affected brain areas, (iii) the ability of the virus to establish latent infections and reactivate spontaneously, and (iv) the

Table 1. Viruses that cause encephalitis in humans

Family	Members
Herpesviridae	Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 (HSV-
	1)
	 Herpes Simplex Virus Type 2 (HSV-
	2)
	Varicella-zoster virus
	 Cytomegalovirus
	 Human Herpes Virus-6
	Epstein Barr virus
Picornaviridae	 Echoviruses 7,9,11 and 30
	Coxsackievirus B5
	Enterovirus 71
Rhabdoviridae	Rabies
Paramyxoviridae	Measles
	Mumps
Myxoviridae	Influenza A and B
Adenoviridae	Adenovirus
Reoviridae	Reovirus
	 Colorado tick fever virus
Retroviridae	Human immunodeficiency virus-1
	(HIV-1)
Togaviridae	Eastern equine encephalitis virus
	 Western equine encephalitis virus
	 Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus
Flaviviridae	Japanese encephalitis virus
	St. Louis encephalitis virus
	 Murray Valley encephalitis virus
	West Nile virus
	 Rocio encephalitis
	Semliki Forest
	 Louping-ill encephalitis virus
	 Powassan encephalitis virus
	European and Far Eastern (Russian)
	encephalitis
Bunyaviridae	La Crosse virus

partial homology of HSV-1 glycoprotein B to $A\beta$ peptide, providing a potential "seed" for $A\beta$ plaque formation in AD (6).

Virus infection of the CNS usually occurs as a complication of systemic infection. HIV is transported to the brain by infected lymphocytes and macrophages that, after adhesion to endothelial cells, traverse the blood-brain barrier. CNS involvement, ranging from aseptic meningitis to AIDS dementia complex, has been demonstrated in 90 % of HIV patients with neurological manifestations. Alphaviruses, invade the CNS *via* direct infection of the choroid plexus, passive transport into the cerebrospinal fluid across cerebral capillary endothelial cell/ astrocyte complex (blood-brain barrier), or by retrograde transport by olfactory routes (8). Other viruses (viz. HSV and rabies) gain access to the CNS by retrograde transport from a peripheral site by ascending the axons of peripheral and cranial nerves.

Rabies virus infects the cells at the neuromuscular junction and is transported to the CNS *via* peripheral (sensory and motor) nerves by retrograde axoplasmic flow (9). HSV is transported by axonal retrograde movement from the site of primary infection (mucosal membranes or abraded skin) to the sensory ganglia, where latency is established. Both HSV serotypes (HSV-1/2) exhibit a centripetal spread to the CNS under

conditions that are not yet elucidated. However, HSV-2 infection of the CNS affects mainly neonates, and the route of transmission is believed to be hematogenous, following systemic infection. The outcome is primarily a diffuse encephalitic process that results in generalized encephalomalacia. In adults, HSV transmission is believed to occur primarily by a neuronal route via the olfactory nerves or tracts, or along the branches of the trigeminal nerve innervating the basal meninges. In adults, HSV-2 causes aseptic meningitis. By contrast, HSV-1 infection of the adult CNS results in encephalitis, involving the limbic system (10). Whatever the pathway by which it gains access to the CNS, disease causation is at least partially dependent on the ability of the virus to commandeer cell signaling pathways in a complex network of cross talk. Various strategies are used towards this goal and some of these are briefly reviewed here. Focus is on potential targets for therapeutic approaches based on the modulation of apoptosis, a common aspect in the pathogenesis of neurological disorders.

3. VIRAL MODULATION OF SIGNALING PATHWAYS IN CNS PATHOGENESIS

In virus infections of the CNS, neurotoxicity is due to the cellular effects of virus replication or to the action of resident or infiltrating immune/inflammatory cells that respond to newly expressed viral antigens. Direct effects involve modulation of signal transduction pathways and are designed to maximize virus replication/progeny production, evasion of host defenses, and the control of cellular fate. In some cases, the virus inhibits apoptosis, in order to enable completion of its replicative cycle before the cell's demise. In other cases, specific cellular proteins (viz. Bcl-2) inhibit virus-induced apoptosis, leading to virus persistence in neurons. The apoptotic cascade and signaling pathways targeted by viruses include the major neurotrophin-activated ERK and PI3-K, the stress-induced JNK and p38MAPK, apoptotic cascades, inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), and immune/inflammatory responses. These pathways are schematically represented in the preceding article (Aurelian).

3.1. Retroviridae

Lentiviruses belong to the Retroviridae family and include HIV-1. They cause aseptic meningitis, subcortical dementia and myelopathy. The incidence of HIV-associated dementia (HAD) has decreased since virus replication in the blood has begun to be controlled by the administration of antiretroviral therapy. However, a less severe form of HAD, comprising a milder cognitive and motor disorder, is a potentially serious problem at this time (11). Approximately 25 % of AIDS patients have HIVinduced encephalitis (HIVE), characterized by severe neuronal damage (reactive gliosis, demyelination, microglial nodules, multinucleate giant cells, brain atrophy) and neuronal loss in the absence of significant neuronal infection. HIV enters the brain, primarily within infected monocytes that cross the blood-brain barrier. Most of the virus produced in the brain is from infected macrophages and microglia, suggesting that immune deregulation may play an important role in neurotoxicity. The HIV proteins

gp120 and Tat exert neurotoxicity by increasing neuronal Ca²⁺ concentrations and activating the NMDA receptors (12). gp120 can also activate the ERK, JNK, and p38MAPK pathways and trigger apoptosis (13). Moreover, neuronal chemokine receptors (viz. CXCR4, CCR3, and CCR5), which are co-receptors for HIV-1 entry into lymphocytes and macrophages, are involved in Ca²⁺ influx into the cell, resulting in the activation of signaling pathways. As such, they link neuronal and inflammatory responses. Indeed, gp120 and Tat induce inflammatory cytokines (viz. IL-1 and TNF-alpha) that, in turn, trigger cytokine (viz. IL-6, TGF-beta) and prostaglandins production providing an autocrine feedback loop that results in neuronal damage. The chemokines macrophage inflammatory protein-1α (MIP-1α), MIP-1β, normal T cell expressed and secreted (RANTES) and IFN-inducible protein of 10 kDa (IP-10) are upregulated in the brains of patients with HIV encephalitis, presumably resulting from increased numbers of CD40+ microglia and their interaction with CD40L. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) and IP-10 are also induced via signaling pathways, viz. ERK and p38MAPK, respectively (14).

Recent evidence suggests that injection heroin abusers are at increased risk of CNS complications from HIV infection, involving immune functions and the CNS response to HIV. Indeed, astroglia maintain the blood-brain barrier and influence inflammatory signaling in the CNS. Astrocytes can express mu-opioid receptors, and are likely targets for abused opiates, which preferentially activate muopioid receptors. While Tat alone disrupts astrocyte function, when combined with morphine, Tat causes synergistic increases in Ca²⁺ ions. Astrocyte cultures treated with morphine and Tat showed exaggerated increases MCP-1, RANTES, and IL-6 release. Neurological disease is due to the direct toxic effects of HIV proteins and/or to cell destruction caused by immunologically active molecules (viz. chemokines), which are secreted by infiltrating macrophages, perivascular microglia and astrocytes. Thus, opiates may increase virus access to the CNS (via recruited monocytes/macrophages) and enhance its ability to cause encephalitis by synergistically increasing MCP-1 and RANTES release by astrocytes (15). HIV establishes persistent infection in astrocytes, providing a virus reservoir within the CNS (16).

It is generally believed that HAD and HIVE associated apoptosis is due to the interaction of viral proteins with chemokine receptors (viz. CXCR4), independent of CD4 receptor binding. Apoptosis was linked to multiple signal transduction pathways and was reported to involve virus-mediated inhibition of cAMP and activation of IP3. Indeed, CXCR4-mediated neuronal apoptosis was blocked by HA1004, an inhibitor of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II, PKA, and PKC. By contrast pharmacological inhibitors of ERK, JNK and p38 MAPK did not inhibit neuronal apoptosis, suggesting that MAPKs are not involved in virus-induced apoptosis (17). This is distinct from the findings in T cells, in which HIV binding to CD4 receptors results in activation of the MEK/ERK pathway independent of CXCR4 binding, and cytokines/chemokines production (18). ERK

activation, resulting in AP-1 upregulation/activation and its interaction with NF-kappaB, is also responsible for virus replication in response to mitogens or other extracellular stimuli (19). The prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) protein, which inhibits expression of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 and activates caspase-8, may also be involved in HIVE pathogenesis and its expression is increased in the hippocampus from HIVE patients (20).

Inducible iNOS was also implicated in HAD pathogenesis. Staining for iNOS and the HIV protein gp41 co-localized in macrophages and microglia and increased with HAD severity (21). NO generated from iNOS can contribute to neuronal dysfunction by activating apoptotic mechanisms through stimulation of NMDA receptors (22). Stimulation of NMDA receptors by astrocyte-released glutamate has also been proposed as an indirect mechanism of gp120-induced neuronal apoptosis. In this pathway, gp120 acts on the CXCR4 receptor on astrocytes and triggers Ca²⁺ increase and ERK activation, resulting in TNF-α release. TNF-α may induce the production of prostaglandin E2 in astrocytes, and it, in turn, triggers a second wave of Ca²⁺ increase as well as extracellular glutamate release (23). Studies of murine macrophages showed that in the lipopolysaccharide-stimulated iNOS expression paradigm, NO production and upregulation of iNOS expression occurs via the JNK pathway (24). However, it is not known whether JNK is also involved in iNOS/NO mediated neuronal dysfunction in HAD or HIVE. Apoptosis may also ensue from direct interaction of gp120 with neurons (25).

Neurotrophins play an important role in the progression of HIV infection of the CNS by increasing the numbers of live neurons that can support virus replication. The levels of NGF and BDNF are increased in HIVE patients (26), and they may contribute to neuronal survival by upregulating Bcl-2 which protects from the neurotoxic effects of HIV-1 Tat (27). Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) also has neuroprotective activity. It regulates the expression of CXCR4 on neurons and inhibits the gp120 toxicity in a dose-dependent manner. Its neuroprotective activity may involve PI3-K/Akt dependent inactivation of glycogen synthase kinase-3β (GSK-3), which is involved in neuronal apoptosis (28) and gp120 toxicity (29). Neuroprotective therapies targeted to blunt the effects of macrophage activation and reverse their pro-apoptotic activity are likely to improve the management of HIVE and HAD patients.

3.2. Arboviruses

Human Arborviruses in North America include La Crosse virus (*Bunyaviridae*); Western, Eastern and Venezuelan equine encephalitis viruses (*Togaviridae*); St. Louis encephalitis, West Nile, and Powassan viruses (Flaviviridae) and Colorado tick fever virus (*Reoviridae*). Colorado tick fever and Powassan fever viruses are transmitted by ticks; the others by mosquitoes. Other tick borne encephalitis viruses include Russian Spring Summer encephalitis and Louping ill encephalitis viruses. Other mosquito-borne viruses include Murray Valley encephalitis virus found in Australia, New Zealand and New Guinea, and Japanese encephalitis virus which is endemic in the

Western Pacific islands and Asia (Korea, Indonesia, China and India).

3.2.1. Bunyaviridae

Apoptosis was described for the Hantaviruses, that cause pulmonary syndromes (30) and La Crosse virus, the causative agent of California encephalitis, a vectorborne disease of children (mostly boys aged 6 months to 16 years) (31). Focal neurological signs in the temporal lobe occur in most cases of California encephalitis and neurological sequelae were reported in 12 - 46 % of infected children (2). The virus replicates locally at the site of the mosquito bite, resulting in viremia. It reaches the CNS via cerebral capillary endothelial cells or the choroid plexus. Studies of a mouse model indicated that CNS toxicity is due to apoptosis, and neuroprotection was achieved by expression of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 (31). Apoptosis is caused by a non-structural viral protein known as NSs that triggers cytochrome c release from the mitochondria and induces caspase activation (32).

3.2.2. Togaviridae

Venezuela (VEE), Eastern (EEE) and Western (WEE) equine encephalitis viruses are enveloped, positivestrand RNA viruses of the genus Alphavirus. They are transmitted by mosquito bites. VEE is an emerging zoonotic disease that affects both equines and humans and is maintained enzootically in small rodents. Children are more susceptible to neurological manifestations and develop fatal encephalitis. Apoptosis is an important feature of VEE infection and it is triggered both by virus replication and the inflammatory response (such as iNOS and TNF-α) (33). CNS manifestations in EEE or WEE infected humans are preceded by a 2-10 days incubation period and a prodrome period consisting of fever, myalgia, headache, nausea, vomiting, and abdominal pain that signals virus replication in non-neural tissue (2). The viruses enter the CNS via cerebral capillary endothelial cells during secondary viremia. Neurons and glia are infected. An inflammatory response also occurs, with perivascular cuffing and lymphocytic polymorphonuclear infiltration (9). Mortality from EEE infection can reach 70 % in infants and children, and survivors evidence neurological sequelae, including seizures and mental retardation (9). EEE antigens are present mainly in neurons (perikaryon and dendrites) of basal ganglia and thalamic nuclei with temporary involvement of the cortex. Apoptosis is primarily in glial and inflammatory cells, but its mechanism is still unclear (34). WEE apparently arose by recombination between EEE and Sindbis-like viruses (35). In humans, WEE causes a mild, subclinical disease except in children under 1 year of age. Inflammatory cells entering the brain parenchyma and perivascular areas presumably cause neuronal death. Neurological sequelae were reported for infants younger than 3 months of age (2).

Sindbis virus causes encephalitis and paralysis in animal models (viz. mice) and is widely used as a model for alphavirus-induced age-dependent human encephalitis [fatal encephalitis occurs in newborn but not mature mice (36)]. Both necrotic and apoptotic pathways are involved in

neuronal cell damage. Apoptosis is triggered in the process of cell penetration or by expression of specific viral proteins (37). Excitotoxicity, mediated by excessive activation of NMDA-type glutamate receptors, and the subsequent increase in intracellular Ca2+ are believed to be responsible for the necrotic death of infected neurons in vitro. A bystander death effect was observed in uninfected nearby cells, presumably due to NMDA-mediated excitotoxicity (38). Bystander death is a common feature of several other neurovirulent viruses, such as Dengue (39) and reovirus (40). Apoptosis is an important factor in Sindbis encephalitis. It occurs in infected neurons and correlates directly with neurovirulence and mortality rates (41). Bcl-2 protects mice against fatal encephalitis, inhibits virus replication and neuronal cell death, and allows for virus persistence in cultured cells (41). The anti-viral activity of Bcl-2 was associated with its interaction with a novel 60-kDa protein named Beclin that, when overexpressed, has anti-apoptotic and antiviral activities and protects from virus-induced encephalitis (42). Beclin is a tumor suppressor that interacts with PI3-K and is involved in autophagy, a Ras-associated non-apoptotic programmed cell death (43). In non-neuronal cells, heterodimerization of Bcl-2 pro-survival proteins with proapoptosis family members (viz. Bad) promotes Sindbis virus-induced apoptosis (44). Apoptosis appears to be celltype specific and it involves additional signaling proteins, such as Ras, the JNK and p38MAPK pathways (45), NFkB, and inhibition of tyrosine-phosphorylated PKC (46). However, CNS symptoms are generally not seen in human Sindbis virus infection.

Rubella virus is the sole member of the Rubivirus genus in the Togaviridae family that uses the same replication strategy as Sindbis virus. While considered a benign childhood disease, a vertically-infected fetus exhibits a range of neurological symptoms and birth defects due to virus replication. Fetal damage occurs in 90 % of cases when infection occurs in the first 10 weeks of pregnancy but the risk declines to about 10-20 % by 16 weeks. In adults, rubella virus may cause a post-infectious encephalitis syndrome and a neurodegenerative disease called progressive rubella panencephalitis (PRP), which is characterized by demyelination and resembles MS. The mortality rate for rubella encephalitis is 0-30%, and most patients recover quickly with no neurological sequelae (47). Apoptosis was implicated in rubella virus pathogenesis and it is associated with virus replication. In vitro, the virus triggers caspase-dependent apoptosis of oligodendrocytes, likely explaining the demyelinating effect of infection (48). Virus replication in non-neuronal cells does not affect the expression of the Bcl-2 proteins and apoptosis is independent of p53 (49).

3.2.3. Flaviviridae

Encephalitic flaviviruses are a diverse group of viruses that include mosquito-borne (Japanese encephalitis, St. Louis encephalitis, Murray Valley encephalitis, Rocio encephalitis, Semliki Forest, and West Nile) and tick-borne (European and Far Eastern or Russian encephalitis, Louping-ill encephalitis, and Powassan encephalitis) human pathogens. In addition to encephalitis they cause a

wide range of diseases, from a mild febrile illness to hemorrhagic fever syndromes. The St. Louis encephalitis (SLE) syndrome affects primarily the elderly (2,9). Encephalitis is characterized by focal neuronal degeneration and inflammatory infiltrates in the gray and white matter. CNS pathogenesis may involve apoptosis and pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members (viz. Bax) (50). Powassan encephalitis, first reported in the U.S. in 1994, is associated with 10-15% mortality. Pathological damage primarily involves the grey matter and is characterized by inflammatory infiltrates of lymphocytes and macrophages. Molecular events involved in the CNS disease are still unknown.

Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) is one the most common causes of arbovirus infection worldwide. Encephalitis is primarily seen in children and the elderly and it is associated with high mortality and morbidity. Severe cytopathic effects and cell death are primarily in the thalamus and brain stem, and they are due, at least in part, to apoptosis. JEV-induced apoptosis appears to involve the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) unfolded protein response (UPR) that signals malfunctioning of ER in neuronal and non-neuronal cells (52). UPR is a stress-activated ERnucleus signaling cascade. It causes increased expression of certain proteins and inhibition of translation at the initiation step in order to curtail the accumulation of unfolded proteins in the ER lumen. Among the proteins induced by UPR is the death-related transcription factor CHOP/GADD153 that may downregulate Bcl-2 and stimulate production of reactive oxygen species (53). However, in cultured cells, Bcl-2 (but not its homolog Bcl_{XL}) inhibits virus-induced apoptosis in a cell-type dependent manner (51), leading to persistent infection (64). Virus persistence was reported in approximately 5% of JEV-induced encephalitis patients, potentially involving Bcl-2 inhibition of the ER-associated caspase-12. JEVinduced apoptosis involves activation of the p38MAPK stress signaling pathway and translocation of the activated transcription factor CHOP to the nucleus (51). It is still unclear whether p38MAPK is upstream or downstream of UPR in the apoptotic sequence of events that leads to CHOP activation. Because flaviviruses induce proliferation of ER membranes and accumulation of viral proteins in the ER lumen, it will be interesting to see whether the UPR/CHOP and/or UPR/caspase-12 constitute common apoptotic pathways for most or all the flaviviruses.

West Nile virus (WNV) is an emerging human pathogen in North America, first documented in New York City in 1999. It has become the single most common cause of arboviral disease in the US (2). WNV crosses the blood brain barrier and causes encephalitis, aseptic meningitis or meningoencephalitis (when the leptomeninges are involved). Encephalitis and/or meningoencephalitis occur in approximately 60 % of cases. In non-neuronal cells, WNV causes both necrosis and apoptosis, depending on the virus dose. Apoptosis was observed at the lower multiplicities of infection and it had classical features including cytochrome c release from the mitochondria and activation of caspases-9 and -3 (55). In cultured neuronal cells, WNV induced apoptosis was associated with upregulation of the pro-apoptotic protein Bax. The capsid

protein (WNV-Cp) activates caspase-9/3 and induces inflammation *in vivo* (56).

Dengue virus, another mosquito-borne flavivirus can cause encephalitis and encephalopathy in both primary and secondary infections. Apoptosis is a crucial aspect of CNS pathogenesis. It involves sequential activation of phospholipase A2 (PLA2) and NADPH oxidase leading to production of arachidonic acid (AA) and reactive oxygen species (ROS). Mitochondrial damage-induced by oxidative stress, and activation of the transcription factor NF-kB and p53 are also involved (57). Dengue virus also infects monocytes/macrophages and T-cells, suggesting that immune mechanisms such as the cytokine response (TNF-α, IL-1, CF2 cytotoxin) may also contribute to neuronal pathology.

3.3. Picornaviridae

Enteroviruses (polio-, echo, and coxsackieviruses) are members of the Picornaviridae family. In the United States they cause 10-15 million symptomatic infections annually, affecting almost every organ in the body. They enter the body through the upper respiratory or gastrointestinal tracts and commonly target CNS. resulting in aseptic meningitis. Meningoencephalitis or encephalitis syndromes also are known to occur. Since immunizations virtually eliminated poliovirus from the US, this review will only mention recent advances concerning non-polio serotypes. Among these, viruses which are most often associated with CNS damage include echoviruses 4, 7, 9, 11, 16, and 30 (causative agents of aseptic meningitis); enterovirus 71 (responsible for large outbreaks of acute poliomyelitis-like paralysis); and coxsackieviruses group A (cause 10-20 % of viral encephalitis cases in children and infants) and B (B2, B5, causative agents of aseptic meningitis) (58). Neonates are particularly susceptible to enterovirus (echo- and group B coxsackieviruses) infection acquired vertically from their mothers. They show a high rate of mortality, especially when combined with myocarditis (usually caused by group B coxsackieviruses serotypes 2-5).

Enterovirus 71 (EV71) causes a wide range of diseases, from hand-foot-mouth disease to encephalitis. Cytopathic effects in EV71 infected non-neuronal cells have morphological and biochemical features of apoptosis (nuclear condensation, DNA fragmentation and PARP cleavage). They are caused by the virus-encoded protease 2A^{pro}. It cleaves the eukaryotic polypeptide chain initiation factor (eIF) 4 GI (eIF4GI), a component of the capbinding complex involved in initiation of translation. EIF4GI cleavage results in the inhibition of de novo capdependent translation and rapid cell death (59). Coxsackievirus B3 (CVB3) targets the CNS as well as the heart, lung, and pancreas and is considered the most common human pathogen for viral myocarditis. Neonates are particularly susceptible to CNS infection resulting in meningitis, encephalitis and long-term neurological sequelae. Loss of neurons by apoptosis in specific brain areas (hippocampus, entorrhinal and temporal cortex, olfactory bulb) may explain the CNS pathogenesis (60). At least in non-neuronal cells, apoptosis/cytopathic effects

appear to be due to activation of the Ras-initiated ERK signaling pathway, which is required for CVB3 replication. In these cells, ERK activation consists of an early phase that is transient and a late phase that is sustained and precedes caspase-3 activation (61). The late phase may be due to cleavage of the Ras inhibitor Ras-GAP. The viral proteinase 3CD^{pro} interacts with Sam68, a cellular adaptor protein that binds Ras-GAP, and is believed to be responsible for this effect (62). Ras-GAP cleavage is also caused by echoviruses (22), suggesting that it is a common event in enterovirus infection. Echoviruses also upregulate transcription factors c-jun, junB, and c-fos, that stimulate apoptotic pathways in some cell types.

3.4. Reoviridae

Reovirus is the prototype of the Orthoreovirus genus and Colorado tick fever (CTF) is the prototype of the Coltivirus genus. CTF is transmitted to humans by the adult hard-shelled wood tick *Dermacentor andersoni* and causes an acute febrile often diphasic but mild dengue-like illness (also known as mountain fever). Occasionally, CTF may cause encephalitis and even hemorrhagic fever (63). Human reovirus infection of the CNS with encephalitis symptoms was demonstrated in infants and adults.

Reoviruses infect the gastrointestinal tract. Following replication at this site, they spread through blood to distal organs such as brain, liver, heart, spleen and kidneys. Serotype 1 (T1) is believed to enter the CNS by the hematogenous route (via the meninges or through the blood vessel epithelium along the choroids plexus, hypothalamus, or area postrema). Despite its presence in the bloodstream, Serotype 3 (T3) uses a neuronal route (along the vagal autonomic nerve fibers), resulting in distinct neurological syndromes for the two serotypes (selflimiting hydrocephalus vs lethal encephalitis). Reovirus strain T3 preferentially infects the cortex, hippocampus. and thalamus areas of the neonatal mouse brain and induces neuronal apoptosis more efficiently than the T1 serotype. In the neonate, apoptosis is triggered by virus binding to the cell surface receptor (JAM, junction adhesion molecule). It is accompanied by NF-kB activation, suggesting that tight junctions are involved in signal transduction and integration of inflammatory and apoptotic responses (64). However, the adult mouse brain becomes resistant to T3induced pathogenesis, presumably due to the loss of the receptor JAM. In non-neuronal cells, reovirus-induced apoptosis is inhibited by overexpression of Bcl-2 (65) and it requires binding of TRAIL (TNF related, apoptosisinducing ligand) to its cellular receptors DR4 and DR5 (76). Apoptosis involves upregulation of DR5 (and to a lesser extent DR4) and triggers the release of TRAIL from infected cells in a FADD/caspase-8-dependent manner (66). While reovirus also activates the JNK/c-Jun and ERK pathways, their role in CNS disease is still unclear (67).

3.5. Paramyxoviridae

Measles virus (MV) (Rubeola) belongs to the Morbillivirus genus of the Paramyxoviridae family. The clinical spectrum ranges from mild and self-limiting to lethal disease. Although a live attenuated vaccine has been available since 1967, it is estimated that MV is a leading

cause of death due to virus infection (68). In addition, 20 % of infected adults who died of unrelated causes expressed MV antigens in the CNS at the time of death, suggesting that persistent infection of the adult CNS may be the cause of seemingly unrelated CNS disorders. Neurological complications of acute measles infection include: (i) acute postinfectious encephalomyelitis characterized demyelinization and brain inflammation (occurs in 1/1000 cases during or shortly after acute measles infection), (ii) subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE) and (iii) inclusion body encephalitis. SSPE is a rare neurodegenerative disease that may occur years after infection and is presumably due to virus persistence. It presents with seizures, coma, and death in 1/100,000 cases of acute measles infection. Inclusion body encephalitis is a measles-induced progressive infectious encephalitis that affects immunosuppressed patients several months after measles infection (69). Measles-mediated immunosuppression is considered the major cause of death in acutely infected infants. Inhibition of Akt/GSK-3\beta but not JAK/STAT signaling pathway in T-cells occurs early in infection and is involved in measles immunosuppression in vivo and in vitro (i.e. proliferation inhibition). This effect is mediated by the fusion (F) and hemagglutinin (H) viral glycoproteins, but it does not lead to cell death.

MV replication and neuronal apoptosis were described in CD46 (human complement regulatory protein)-transgenic mice. In this model of MV encephalitis, virus replicates in the brain and disseminates rapidly throughout the CNS. Specific areas affected early in infection (day 4) include the motor cortex, hippocampus, and the anterior olfactory nucleus. Other areas of the brain follow, and the cerebellum is extensively damaged in the course of infection. Apoptotic cells were seen in the bed nucleus of stria terminalis, paraventricular nucleus of preoptic thalamus. area of the hypothalamus, periaqueductal gray matter, and metencephalic reticular formation (70). MV persistence in neurons (virus reactivation and/or an inappropriate immune response to viral antigens) is the cause of SSPE, as suggested by MVinduced HLA class I expression on glial cells in an IFNgamma and NF-kappaB-dependent manner (71). Apoptosis was demonstrated in human SSPE brains, but it is unclear whether it is a direct effect of virus replication or a cytokine-mediated response (72).

Mumps virus belongs to the Rubulavirus genus. It causes parotitis, meningitis (4-6 % of cases), encephalitis (1 in 1000 cases), and orchitis (40 % of adult males), but death is rare. Neurological symptoms occur in 10-20 % of cases and appear to be due to apoptosis caused primarily by cytokine responses (such as IL-1 β production) (73).

3.6. Myxoviridae

Influenza virus is an Orthomyxovirus that is responsible for acute upper respiratory disease. Both influenza A and B can cause acute encephalitis and encephalopathy in children. The virus reaches the CNS *via* afferent fibers of the olfactory, vagal, trigeminal, and sympathetic nerves, following replication in the respiratory mucosa (74). In epithelial cells infection triggers apoptosis

by activating the JNK and p38MAPK stress pathways. They initiate with ASK-1 (apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1), which is upstream of SEK1-JNK and MKK3/MKK6-p38 MAPK (75). P38MAPK and JNK activation was linked to production of RANTES, a cytokine that is involved in airway inflammation (76). In animal models, acute encephalitis was associated with apoptosis and the activation of the JNK pathway in virus-infected neurons, and activation of the p38MAPK pathway in astrocytes (77). It would be of interest to see whether JNK and p38MAPK activation in the brain also correlates with cytokine production, since both pathways activate the transcription factors NF-kappaB and AP-1 which induce expression of the chemokine RANTES (78). dsRNAdependent protein kinase PKR and the Fas-mediated pathway were also implicated in influenza virus-induced apoptosis (80). Presumably, apoptosis is required for virus replication, because Bcl-2 inhibited apoptosis, virus replication and glycosylation of the viral hemagglutinin protein (81). Decreased virus replication may be advantageous for virus survival due to improved immune evasion and persistence. Apoptosis was also seen in neurons and glial cells from human brains affected by influenza encephalopathy (79).

3.7. Adenoviridae

Encephalitis is a rare complication of adenovirus infection, which usually affects the upper respiratory tract eyes. Meningitis, meningoencephalitis rhombencephalitis, characterized by inflammation of brain stem and cerebellum were also described in normal and immunocompromised patients (82). Neurological symptoms associated with adenovirus infection include headache, myalgia, anorexia, mental alteration, and seizures. They last 2 - 14 days. In addition, rhombencephalitis may be characterized ophtalmoplegia, ataxia, and areflexia.

Adenovirus-induced neurological symptoms are of particular concern in view of ongoing clinical trials using adenovirus vectors for the treatment of brain disease. In immunocompromised patients adenovirus may cause disseminated disease and death. Adenovirus encodes both pro-apoptotic (E1A) and anti-apoptotic viral proteins (E1B), but their contribution to CNS pathogenesis is still unclear. When all viral genes except those necessary for virus replication and packaging are deleted, adenovirus vectors produce stable and long-term transgene expression even after vector re-administration, natural infection with the same or a closely-related serotype, or subsequent peripheral immune challenge (83). This is due to decreased virus-specific T-cell responses in the brain. However, an innate capsid-mediated inflammatory response cannot be avoided by genome deletion, and it is responsible for an initial inflammatory dose-dependent response that is characterized by leukocyte infiltration across the bloodbrain barrier and microglial/astrocyte activation within 24 hrs of vector administration (84). This process may be due to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by infected cells, involving activation of the Raf/ERK pathway (85) or the ERK and p38MAPK pathways that respectively lead to the production of IL-8 and IP-10 (86).

3.8. Rhabdoviridae

Human rabies virus belongs to genus Lyssavirus of the Rhabdoviridae family. Following infection, the incubation period lasts 5 days - >1 year but is typically 1 -3 months. Even though human rabies is very rare, contact with raccoons and bats may lead to the reemergence of this zoonosis. Virus replicates initially in myocytes at the site of a rabid animal bite and spreads by retrograde axoplasmic flow to the spinal cord and CNS via sensory and motor nerves. This is followed by centrifugal spread to other organs including skin and salivary glands. RV causes rapidly progressing encephalitis characterized by perivascular lymphocytic infiltration, inflammatory cytokine production and the presence of cytoplasmic eosinophilic inclusion bodies (Negri bodies) in neuronal cells, especially in the pyramidal cells of the hippocampus and Purkinje cells of the cerebellum.

Apoptosis plays an important role in rabies pathogenesis, by affecting both neuronal cells and infiltrating lymphocytes. Bcl-2 inhibits virus-induced T-cell apoptosis, whether caspase-dependent or independent (87). In experimentally-infected animal brains, apoptosis is first seen in the hippocampus and neocortex, followed by other areas such as basal ganglia, thalamus, and brain stem. Viral antigens were present in the cerebellar Purkinje cells, but the apoptotic effect was not significant in the cerebellum. Inflammatory responses may be responsible for lethality, since mortality was delayed in animals lacking the p55 kDa TNF- α receptor that is involved in cytokine signaling (88). In addition to cytokines, nitric oxide (NO) production and iNOS expression coincide with the onset of disease, and may lead to changes in the permeability of the blood-brain barrier and subsequent invasion of brain by T-cells and monocytes (89). Although the low-affinity neurotrophin receptor p75NTR was reported to function as a rabies receptor, p75NTR-deficient suckling mice were infected and evidenced similar pathologic features as wild type animals, suggesting that p75NTR is not involved in rabies infection/pathogenesis (90).

3.9. Herpesviridae

3.9.1. Non-simplex encephalitides

Herpesviridae family members other than HSV-1/2 occasionally affect the CNS, but there is scarce information about the molecular mechanism of their pathogenesis in the brain. Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) is a gamma herpesvirus that infects mainly B lymphocytes where it remains latent after primary infection. It causes infectious mononucleosis (glandular fever) which may be accompanied by a mild form of encephalitis in about 1 in 100 cases. Other neurological complications may also occur in about 36 % of cases (91). These might include seizures, Guillain-Barre syndrome, Bell palsy, transverse myelitis, meningitis, and cranial nerve palsies. A Parkinson-like syndrome has been reported as a neurological sequela of acute EBV encephalitis, but it is also common to other viral encephalitides such as those caused by HSV, JEV, cytomegalovirus, coxsackievirus, measles and cytomegalovirus. The Parkinson-like syndrome is characterized by involuntary hand movements,

akathisia, bradykinesia, torticollis, and drooling (92). In non-neuronal cells, EBV latent membrane protein 2 A (LMP2A) activates the ERK and JNK pathways (93) while the oncogene LMP1 activates the JNK pathway and NF-kappaB (94). LMP-1 causes cell transformation involving activation of the Ras/ERK pathway (95) and it increases expression of the anti-apoptotic protein A1 (bfl-1) (96). Other EBV anti-apoptotic proteins include the Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA-1) that is anti-apoptotic in EBV lymphomas (97) and BZLF1 that inhibits TNF-alphamediated apoptosis (98).

Cytomegalovirus (CMV) is a beta herpesvirus that replicates in epithelial and endothelial cells, smooth muscle, microglia and macrophages and establishes latency in peripheral blood monocytes and macrophagegranulocyte progenitors. CMV encephalitis is a complication seen primarily in immunocompromised patients, where it has a high mortality rate (about 50 %). Up to 12 % of HIV patients demonstrated CMV presence in their brains at autopsy (99). In these patients, CMV may cause ventriculitis. mvelitis. radiculoganglionitis, and peripheral neuropathies. CMV infection was also demonstrated in immunosuppressed organ transplant recipients and immunologically normal individuals (100). Pathological findings in CMV encephalitis include microglial nodules, primarily in the gray matter, but no focal necrosis (97). In non-neuronal cells CMV may induce (101) or prevent (102) cell death in a cell-type specific manner. CMV infection activates the ERK (103) and p38MAPK (104) pathways in fibroblasts, but it is not known if any of these activities also occur in infected brain cells.

HHV-6 is a ubiquitous pathogen related most closely to CMV and thought to be present in about 95 % of population. It may cause roseola infantum in children (mainly HHV-6B variant). Following primary infection (and replication in lymphocytes and salivary epithelial cells), HHV-6 establishes latency in lymphocytes and monocytes and possibly neuronal cells (105). Neurological complications in AIDS and transplant patients (viz. encephalitis) are primarily associated with HHV-6A latency reactivation. Pathological findings of HHV-6 encephalitis include focal or diffuse demyelination and are primarily the result of viral cytotoxic in oligodendrocytes. However, *in vitro* experiments suggest that cytotoxicity is indirect and is not due to apoptosis (106). The effect of HHV-6 on oligodendrocytes, microglia, and neurons, and the finding of HHV-6 in demyelinated lesions and plaques from the brains of MS patients (but not normal brains) lead to the current view that HHV-6 is involved in MS pathogenesis. However, a causal link is yet to be established.

Chickenpox, a mild self-limiting acute disease follows primary infection with Varicella-zoster virus (VZV). Zoster (shingles) is due to reactivation of the latent virus. During primary infection, VZV replicates in epithelial, T cells and neurons and establishes latency in dorsal root sensory ganglia. Complications that may ensue following chickenpox include meningitis, meningoencephalitis, transverse myelitis, and cerebellar

ataxia. Complications associated with shingles include encephalitis, transverse myelitis, cerebral angitis, palsy, and post-herpetic neuralgia. Adults (>20 years of age) account for 55 % of VZV-related deaths, with encephalitis having a 10 -30 % mortality rate. VZV induces apoptosis in cultured epithelial and immune cells, but not in sensory neurons (107). It has been suggested that apoptosis inhibition may be involved in the establishment and maintenance of latency. VZV was found in a high percentage of brains from patients with neurodegenerative diseases (26.5 and 40% of Alzheimer's and Parkinson disease, respectively) together with other herpesviruses (viz. HSV-1 and HHV-6), suggesting that it may constitute a risk factor for these diseases (108).

3.9.2. HSV-1 and HSV-2

HSV-1 and HSV-2 have an overall DNA homology of 50 % (which is higher or lower in some genomic regions). They have a general predilection for different body sites: HSV-1 is mostly associated with oral (skin and mucosa) lesions, while HSV-2 causes genital lesions. The histopathological characteristics of primary HSV infection reflect virus-mediated cellular lysis and associated inflammatory responses. When cell lysis occurs, a clear (vesicular) fluid containing large quantities of virus appears between the epidermal and dermal layers. The vesicular fluid contains cellular debris, inflammatory cells, and, often, multinucleated giant cells. In the dermis, there is an intense inflammatory response. When healing occurs, the vesicular fluid becomes pustular, inflammatory cells are recruited, and scabs are being formed. Shallow ulcers in the mucosae replace the vesicles.

Upon infection of mucosal membranes or abraded skin, both HSV-1 and HSV-2 are transported by axonal retrograde movement (involving microtubules) to the sensory ganglia. Here (trigeminal and sacral ganglia for HSV-1 and HSV-2, respectively), they establish latency by maintaining the viral genome in a largely non-transcribed episomal state. Latently-infected ganglia provide a virus reservoir for the entire life of the infected individual by means of periodic reactivation (recurrent infections), whereby virus is transported by reverse axonal transport back (or close) to the dermatome of entry. Reactivation occurs following a variety of local or systemic stimuli such as physical or emotional stress, fever, exposure to UV light, tissue damage and immunosuppression. Recurrences occur in the presence of both humoral and cell-mediated immunity. The spectrum of disease caused by HSV infection of the mucous membranes (gingivostomatitis, herpes labialis, and herpes genitalis), keratoconjuctivitis, neonatal HSV infections, visceral HSV infections in immunocompromised hosts, Kaposi's varicella-like eruption, and erythema multiforme (109).

3.9.2.1. HSV Latency

A transcript designated LAT (latency associated transcript) is the only viral gene expressed in latently-infected neurons. LAT is now believed to be a stable intron, approximately 8 kb. It is not required for the establishment and maintenance of latency, but it may be involved in HSV-1 reactivation. ICP0 (110) and LAT (111) were

implicated in HSV-1 latency reactivation, the latter by virtue of its anti-apoptotic activity. Recent findings that STAT1 (signal transducer and activator of transcription 1) binds to the LAT promoter, point to a signaling connection between LAT and cytokines, which may contribute to virus reactivation (112). However, HSV-1 latency reactivation was also associated with the induction of apoptosis (113) and the induction of cAMP early repressors (ICER) that downregulate LAT (114). Possibly, the involvement of ICPO and/or LAT is specific for some, but not other HSV-1 strains, latency models and/or stress stimuli (115), LAT does not seem to be involved in HSV-2 latency reactivation (116), a conclusion supported by the failure of the HSV-2 LAT to substitute for its HSV-1 counterpart in promoting latency reactivation (117). The large subunit of HSV-2 ribonucleotide reductase, which has protein kinase activity and is known as ICP10PK (109) was implicated in HSV-2 latency reactivation. An HSV-2 mutant deleted in ICP10PK was severely compromised for latency reactivation (118) and HSV-2 reactivation from explanted ganglia was inhibited by an ICP10PK-specific antisense oligonucleotide (119). Neurons are non-permissive for virus replication when they harbor the virus genome in a latent state. When placed in culture however, neurons taken from a latently infected tissue become permissive and virus replication ensues. NGF is essential for latency maintenance and its withdrawal triggers virus reactivation (120).

3.9.2.2. HSV infection of the CNS

Both HSV serotypes can reach and infect the CNS. HSV-1 accounts for nearly all cases of herpes encephalitis in adults (and about 10 to 20 % of all viral encephalitis cases) while both serotypes can cause encephalitis in infants. With treatment, mortality rates are 15% in newborns and 20% in others. Untreated, mortality rates are 60 - 80%. The route of HSV-2 access to the brain of infants with multiorgan disseminated infection acquired during partum is hematogenous. Infection is associated with a diffuse encephalitic process that results in generalized encephalomalacia. In adults, HSV-2 can cause aseptic meningitis, predominantly among patients who have primary genital disease. The outcome in these cases is excellent even without antiviral therapy. By contrast, HSV-1-induced encephalitis (HSE) has a high mortality rate (over 50 %) and survivors are left with neurological sequelae involving impairments in memory, cognition, and personality.

The molecular mechanism responsible for the different neurological outcome of adult CNS infection with the two HSV serotypes likely involves serotype- and cell/tissues-specific anti-apoptotic proteins. The US3 viral protein has serine-threonine kinase activity. It has been shown to attenuate virus-induced apoptosis in mouse brains (cortex) by inhibiting the JNK pathway (121). In nonneuronal cells, the HSV-1 US3 protein blocks apoptosis by posttranslational modification of the pro-apoptotic protein Bad (122) or by inhibiting its caspase-mediated cleavage, which enhances pro-apoptotic activity (123). However, in view of the high homology level (75 %) between the HSV-1 and HSV-2 US3 proteins, US3 is unlikely to explain the serotype-specific outcome of CNS infection. By contrast,

ICP10PK, which also has anti-apoptotic activity in the CNS, is poorly conserved in HSV-1 (109) and is likely to explain the failure of HSV-2 to cause encephalitis. We have recently shown that ICP10 PK protects hippocampal neurons from virus-induced apoptosis by activating the ERK pathway and transcription factors such as CREB, and by increasing the expression of anti-apoptotic proteins such as Bag-1. ICP10 PK also protected from apoptosis due to intrinsic genetic defects. By contrast, HSV-1 and an ICP10PK deleted HSV-2 mutant triggered JNK/c-Jun dependent apoptosis in cultured hippocampal neurons, and apoptosis was associated with HSV-1 induced encephalitis (124-127). Activation of the ERK pathway by ICP10PK may constitute a novel therapeutic approach for neurodegenerative disorders (viz. Alzheimer's disease), since ERK/ CREB are involved in neuroprotection and the induction of long-term potentiation, the molecular mechanism of learning and memory (128). ICP10PK may have evolved from a cellular gene hijacked by the virus during infection., as its eukaryotic homologue, the heat shock protein H11 also regulates apoptosis (129).

Latent HSV in the CNS was implicated in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. It was suggested that virus reactivates in elderly brain due to stress or immunosupression leading to mild encephalitis associated with a decline in cognitive functions and tissue damagefurther augmented by the age-related decline in the immune system (130). The frequency of viral reactivation may be higher in individuals homozygous or heterozygous for the apolipoprotein E4 (ApoE4), suggesting that both viral and genetic factors may be involved in disease causation. Sequences in the HSV-1 glycoprotein B are homologous Amyloid beta, interact with apoE, and cause neuronal death (6), supporting the involvement of HSV-1 in the pathophysiology of sporadic cases of Alzheimer's disease. However, the viral theory of Alzheimer's disease has its opponents, since other studies failed to detect the HSV-1 genome in the brain or an association between HSV-1 and ApoE4 (131).

4. CONCLUDING REMARKS

Encephalitis as a neurological complication of virus infection can be devastating, even in the presence of antiviral therapy. In order for viruses to infect and injure the CNS they must: (i) enter the host, (ii) spread from the site of entry to the CNS, (iii) infect neuronal cells, (iv) cause death of infected neuronal cells, and (v) successfully avoid the host's immune defenses by minimizing tissue inflammation and permitting viral spread within apoptotic bodies (132). The CNS pathogenicity of the viruses described in this review probably relates to more than one mechanism. These include cytopathic effects, induction of cytokines, effects on immune function (immune suppression), and effects on other viruses (e.g. transactivation). However, a common thread with regard to virus-induced CNS pathogenesis is apoptosis of neuronal cells. It is still unclear whether apoptosis associated CNS damage is caused by virus replication or is a consequence of an immune reaction triggered by antigen expression. Virus anti-apoptotic proteins may confer selective

advantages to some oncogenic viruses as critical elements to the transformation of host cells. In neuronal postmitotic cells, however, proteins that inhibit the cell apoptotic response may foster virus persistence and/or latency. However, targeting apoptosis may prove useful in the treatment of infectious CNS diseases, such as human encephalitis. Certain viral anti-apoptotic proteins, such as the HSV-2 ICP10 PK, may also constitute the future of therapy for neurodegenerative diseases, since its neuroprotective activity (also against genetic defects) is associated with the activation of the ERK/CREB LTP pathway.

5. REFERENCES

- 1. Hardwick JM, Irani DN, and Griffin DE. Viral encephalitis. In: Cell Death and diseases of the nervous system. Eds: Koliatsos VE and Katan RR, Humana Press Inc, Totowa NJ, 295-323 (1998)
- 2. Romero JR and Newland JG. Viral meningitis and encephalitis: traditional and emerging viral agents. *Semin Ped Inf Dis* 14, 72-82 (2003)
- 3. Griffin DE. Immune responses to RNA-virus infections of the CNS, *Nature Reviews Immunology* 3, 1-11 (2003)
- 4. Enbom M. Human herpesvirus 6 in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *APMIS* 109, 401-11 (2001)
- 5. Terry RD, Masliah E, and Hansen LA. The neuropathology of Alzheimer's disease and the structural basis of its cognitive alterations. In Alzheimer's disease, 2nd ed. Eds: Terry RD, Katzman R, Bick KL, and Sisodia SS, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, pp 245-261 (1999)
- 6. Cribbs DH, Azizeh BY, Cotman CW, and Laferla F. Fibril formation and neurotoxicity by a Herpes Simplex Virus glycoprotein B fragment with homology to the Alzheimer's A-beta peptide. *Biochemistry* 39, 5988-5994 (2000)
- 7. Liebert UG. Slow and persistent virus infections of neurons-a compromise for neuronal survival. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 253, 35-60 (2001)
- 8. Cook SH and Griffin DE. Luciferase imaging of a neurotropic viral infection in intact animals. *J Virol* 77, 5333-5338 (2003)
- 9. Anderson M. Virus infections of the nervous system. In: Brain's diseases of the nervous system, 10^{th} ed., Oxford Medical Publications, pp 317-350 (1993)
- 10. Tomlinson AH and Esiri MM. Herpes Simplex encephalitis. *J Neurol Sci* 60, 473-484 (1983)
- 11. Gonzalez-Scarano F, Martin-Garcia J. The neuropathogenesis of AIDS *Nat Rev Immunol.* 5, 69-81 (2005)

- 12. Hayman M, Arbuthnott G, Harkiss G, Brace H, Filippi P, Philippon V, Thomson D, Vigne R and Wright A. Neurotoxicity of peptide analogues of the transactivating protein tat from Maedi-Visna virus and human immunodeficiency virus. *Neuroscience* 53, 1-6 (1993)
- 13. Misse D, Esteve PO, Rennenboog B, Vidal M, Cerutti M, St. Pierre Y, Yssel H, Parmentier M, and Veas F. HIV-1 glycoprotein 120 induces the MMP-9 cytopathogenic factor production that is abolished by inhibition of the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. *Blood* 98, 541-547 (2001)
- 14. D'Aversa TG, Weidenheim KM and Berman JW. CD40-CD40L interactions induce chemokine expression by human microglia. *Am J Pathol* 160, 559-567 (2002)
- 15. El-Hage N, Gurwell JA, Singh IN, Knapp PE, Nath A, and Hauser KF. Synergistic increases in intracellular Ca(2+), and the release of MCP-1, RANTES, and IL-6 by astrocytes treated with opiates and HIV-1 Tat. *Glia*. (2005) [Epub ahead of print]
- 16. Brack-Werner R. Astrocytes: HIV cellular reservoirs and important participants in neuropathogenesis. *AIDS* 13, 1-22 (1999)
- 17. Zheng J, Ghorpade A, Niemann D, Cotter RL, Thylin MR, Epstein L, Swartz JM, Shepard RB, Liu X, Nukuna A, and Gendelman HE. Lymphotropic virions affect chemokine receptor-mediated neural signaling and apoptosis: implications for human immunodficiency virus type 1-associated dementia. *J Virol* 73, 8256-8267 (1999)
- 18. Popik W, Hesselgesser JE and Pitha PM. Binding of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 to CD4 and CXCR4 receptors differentially regulates expression of inflammatory genes and activates the MEK/ERK signaling pathway. *J Virol* 72, 6406-6413 (1998)
- 19. Yang X, Chen Y and Gabuzda D. ERK MAP kinase links cytokine signals to activation of latent HIV-1 infection by stimulating a cooperative interaction of AP-1 and NFkB. *J Biol Chem* 274, 27981-27988 (1999)
- 20. Mattson MP, Duan W, Chan SL, and Camandola S. Par-4: an emerging pivotal player in neuronal apoptosis and neurodegenerative disorders. *J Mol Neurosci* 13, 17-30 (1999)
- 21. Rostasy K, Monti L, Yiannoutsos C, Kneissl M, Bell J, Kemper TL, Hedreen JC, and Navia BA. Human immunodeficiency virus infection, inducible nitric oxide synthase expression, and microglial activation: pathogenetic relationship to the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome dementia complex. *Ann Neurol* 46, 207-216 (1999)
- 22. Dawson VL, Brahmbhatt HP, Mong JA, and Dawson TM. Expression of inducible nitroc oxide synthase causes delayed neurotoxicity in primary mixed

- neuronal-glial cortical cultures. *Neuropharmacol* 33, 1425-30 (1994)
- 23. Bezzi P, Domercq M, Brambilla L, Galli R, Schols D, De Clercq E, Vescovi A, Bagetta G, Kollias G, Meldolesi J and Volterra A. CXCR4-activated astrocyte glutamate release via TNF-alpha: amplification by microglia triggers neurotoxicity. *Nature Neurosci* 4, 702-710 (2001)
- 24. Lahti A, Jalonen U, Kankaanranta H, and Moilanen E. c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase inhibitor anthra(1,9-cd)pyrazol-6(2H)-one reduces inducible nitric-oxide synthase expression by destabilizing mRNA in activated macrophages. *Mol Pharmacol* 64, 308-315 (2003)
- 25. Meucci O, Fatatis A, Simen AA, Bushell TJ, Gray PW, and Miller RJ. Chemokines regulate hippocampal neuronal signaling and gp120 neurotoxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95:14500-14505 (1998)
- 26. Boven LA, Middel J, Portegies P, Verhoef J, Jansen GH, and Nottet HS. Overexpression of nerve growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor in AIDS dementia complex. *J Neuroimmunol* 97, 154-162 (1999)
- 27. Ramirez SH, Sanchez JF, Dimitri CA, Gelbard HA, Dewhurst S, and Maggirwar SB. Neurotrophins prevent HIV Tat-induced neuronal apoptosis via a nuclear factor-kappaB (NF-kappaB)-dependent mechanism. *J Neurochem* 78, 874-889 (2001)
- 28. Hashimoto M, Sagara Y, Langford D, Everall IP, Mallory M, Everson A, Digicaylioglu M, and Masliah E. Fibroblast growth factor 1 regulates signaling via the glycogen synthase kinase-3beta pathway. Implications for neuroprotection. *J Biol Chem* 277, 32985-32991 (2002)
- 29. Chalecka-Franaszek E and Chuang D. Lithium activates the serine/threonine kinase Akt-1 and suppresses glutamate-induced inhibition of Akt-1 activity in neurons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96, 8745-8750 (1999)
- 30. Kang JI, Park SH, Lee PW and Ahn BY. Apoptosis is induced by hantaviruses in cultured cells. *Virology* 264, 99–105 (1999)
- 31. Pekosz A, Phillips J, Pleasure D, Merry D, and Gonzales-Scarano F. Induction of apoptosis by La Crosse virus infection and role of neuronal differentiation and human bcl-2 expression in its prevention. *J Virol* 70, 5329-5335 (1996)
- 32. Colon-Ramos DA, Irusta PM, Gan EC, Olson MR, Song J, Morimoto RI, Elliott RM, Lombard M, Holingsworth R, Hardwick JM, Smith GK, and Kornbluth S. Inhibition of translation and induction of apoptosis by Bunyaviral nonstructural proteins bearing sequence similarity to reaper. *Mol Biol Cell* 14, 4162-4172 (2003)

- 33. Schoneboom BA, Catlin KM, Marty AM, and Grieder FB. Inflammation is a component of neurodegeneration in response to Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus infection in mice. *J Neuroimmunol* 109, 132-146 (2000)
- 34. Garen PD, Tsai TF, and Powers JM. Human eastern equine encephalitis: immunohistochemistry and ultrastructure. *Mol Pathol* 12, 646-652 (1999)
- 35. Hahn CS, Lustig S, Strauss EG, and Strauss JH. Western equine encephalitis virus is a recombinant virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85, 5997-6001 (1988)
- 36. Lewis J, Wesselingh SL, Griffin DE, and Hardwick JM. Alphavirus-induced apoptosis in mouse brains correlates with neurovirulence. *J Virol* 70, 1828-35 (1996)
- 37. Li ML and Stollar V. Alphaviruses and apoptosis. *Int Reviews Immunol* 23, 7-24 (2004)
- 38. Nargi-Aizenman JL and Griffin DE. Sindbis virus-induced neuronal death is both necrotic and apoptotic and is ameliorated by N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonists. *J Virol* 75, 7114-7121 (2001)
- 39. Despres P, Frenkiel MP, Ceccaldi PE, Duarte Dos Santos C, and Deubel V. Apoptosis in the mouse central nervous system in response to infection with mouseneurovirulent dengue viruses. *J Virol* 72, 823-829 (1998)
- 40. Oberhaus SM, Smith RL, Clayton GH, Dermody TS, and Tyler KL. Reovirus infection and tissue injury in the mouse central nervous system are associated with apoptosis. *J Virol* 71, 2100-2106 (1997)
- 41. Levine B, Goldman JE, Jiang HH, Griffin DE, and Hardwick JM. Bcl-2 protects mice against fatal alphavirus encephalitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 93, 4810-4815 (1996)
- 42. Liang XH, Kleeman LK, Jiang HH, Gordon G, Goldman JE, Berry G, Herman B, and Levine B. Protection against fatal sindbis virus encephalitis by beclin, a novel bcl-2-interacting protein. *J Virol* 72, 8586-8596 (1998)
- 43. Yue Z, Jin S, Yang C, Levine AJ, and Heintz N. Beclin 1, an autophagy gene essential for early embryonic developments, is a haploinsufficient tumor suppressor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 100, 15077-15082 (2003)
- 44. Moriishi K, Koura M, and Matsuura Y. Induction of Bad-mediated apoptosis by Sindbis virus infection: involvement of pro-survival members of the Bcl-2 family. *Virology* 292, 258-271 (2002)
- 45. Nakatsue T, Katoh I, Nakamura S, Takahashi Y, Ikawa Y, and Yoshinaka Y. Acute infection of Sindbis

- virus induces phosphorylation and intracellular translocation of small heat shock protein HSP27 and activation of p38 MAP kinase signaling pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 253, 259-264 (1998)
- 46. Zrachia A, Dobroslav M, Blass M, Kazimirsky G, Kronfeld I, Blumberg PM, Kobiler D, Lustig S, and Brodie C. Infection of glioma cells with Sindbis virus induces selective activation and tyrosine phosphorylation of protein kinase C. *J Biol Chem* 277, 23693-23701 (2002)
- 47. Lau KK, Lai ST, Lai JY, Yan WW, So TM, and Wong TY. Acute encephalitis complicating rubella. *Hong Kong Med J* 4, 325-328 (1998)
- 48. Domegan LM and Atkins GJ. Apoptosis induction by the Therien and vaccine RA27/3 strains of rubella virus causes depletion of oligodendrocytes from rat neural cell cultures. *J Gen Virol* 83, 2135-2143 (2002)
- 49. Hoffman J, Pletz MWR and Liebert UG. Rubella virus-induced cytopathic effect in vitro is caused by apoptosis. *J Gen Virol* 80, 1657-1664 (1999)
- 50. Parquet MC, Kumatori A, Hasebe F, Mathenge EG, and Morita K. St. Louis encephalitis virus induced pathology in cultured cells. *Arch Virol* 147, 1105-1119 (2002)
- 51. Liao CL. Interactions between Japanese encephalitis virus and its target cells. *J Med Sci* 22, 143-156 (2002)
- 52. Su HL, Liao CL, and Lin YL. Infection of Japanese encephalitis virus initiates an unfolded protein response. *J Virol* 76, 4162-4171 (2002)
- 53. McCullough KD, Martindale JL, Klotz LO, Aw TY and Holbrook NJ. Gadd153 sensitizes cells to the endoplasmic reticulum stress by downregulating Bcl2 and perturbing the cellular redox state. *Mol Cell Biol* 21, 1249-1259 (2001)
- 54. Liao CL, Lin YL, Shen SC, Shen JY, Su HL, Huang YL, Ma SH, Sun YC, Chen KP, and Chen LK. Antiapoptotic but not antiviral function of human Bcl-2 assists establishment of Japanese encephalitis virus persistence in cultured cells. *J Virol* 72, 9844-9854 (1998)
- 55. Chu JJ and Ng ML. The mechanism of cell death during West Nile virus infection is dependent on initial infectious dose. *J Gen Virol* 84, 3305-3314 (2003)
- 56. Yang JS, Ramanthan MP, Muthumani K, Choo AY, Jin SH, Yu QC, Hwang DS, Choo DK, Lee MD, Dang K, Tang W, Kim JJ, and Weiner DB. Induction of inflammation by West Nile virus capsid through the caspase-9 apoptotic pathway. *Emerg Infect Dis* 8, 1379-1384 (2002)

- 57. Jan JT, Chen BH, Ma SH, Liu CI, Tsai HP, Wu HC, Jiang SY, Yang KD, and Shaio MF. Potential dengue virus-triggered apoptotic pathway in human neuroblastoma cells: arachidonic acid, superoxide anion, and NFkB are sequentially involved. *J Virol* 74, 8680-8691 (2000)
- 58. Rotbart HA. Enteroviral infections of the central nervous system. *Clin Inf Dis* 20, 971-981 (1995)
- 59. Kuo RL, Kung SH, Hsu YY and Liu WT. Infection with enterovirus 71 or expression of its 2A protease induces apoptotic cell death. *J Gen Virol* 83, 1367-1376 (2002)
- 60. Feuer R, Mena I, Pagarigan RR, Harkins S, Hassett DE, and Whitton JL. Coxsackievirus B3 and the neonatal CNS: the roles of stem cells, developing neurons, and apoptosis in infection, viral dissemination, and disease. *Am J Pathol* 163, 1379-1393 (2003)
- 61. Luo H, Yanagawa B, Zhang J, Luo Z, Zhang M, Esfandiarei M, Carthy C, Wilson JE, Yang D, and McManus BM. Coxsackievirus B3 replication is reduced by inhibition of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) signaling pathway. *J Virol* 76, 3365-3373 (2002)
- 62. Huber M, Watson KA, Selinka HC, Carthy CM, Klingel K, McManus BM, and Kandolf R. Cleavage of RasGAP and phosphorylation of mitogen-activated protein kinase in the course of coxsackievirus B3 replication. *J Virol* 73, 3587-3594 (1999)
- 63. Klasco R. Colorado tick fever. *Med Clin North Am* 86, 435-440 (2002)
- 64. Barton ES, Forrest JC, Connolly JL, Chappell JD, Liu Y, Schnell FJ, Nusrat A, Parkos CA, and Dermody TS. Junction adhesion molecule is a receptor for reovirus Cell 104, 441-451 (2001)
- 65. Rodgers SE, Barton ES, Oberhaus SM, Pike B, Gibson CA, Tyler KL, and Dermody TS. Reovirus-induced apoptosis of MDCK cells is not linked to viral yield and is blocked by Bcl-2. *J Virol* 71, 2540-2546 (1997)
- 66. Clarke P, Meintzer SM, Gibson S, Widmann C, Garrington TP, Johnson GL, and Tyler KL. Reovirus-induced apoptosis is mediated by TRAIL. *J Virol* 74, 8135-8139 (2000)
- 67. Clarke P, Meintzer SM, Gibson S, Widmann C, Johnson GL, and Tyler KL. Reovirus infection activates JNK and the JNK-dependent transcription factor c-Jun. *J Virol* 75: 11275-11283 (2001)
- 68. Rall GF. Measles virus 1998-2002: progress and controversy. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 57, 343-367 (2003) 69. Norrby E and Kristensson K. Measles virus in the brain. *Brain Res Bull* 44, 213-220 (1997)
- 70. Evlashev A, Moyse E, Valentin H, Azocar O, Trescol-Biemont MC, Marie JC, Rabourdin-Combe C,

- and Horvat B: Productive measles virus brain infection and apoptosis in CD46 transgenic mice. *J Virol* 74, 1373-1382 (2000)
- 71. Dhib-Jalbut S, Xia J, Rangaviggula H, Fang YY, and Lee T. Failure of measles virus to activate nuclear factor-kappaB in neuronal cells: implications on the immune response to viral infections in the central nervous system. *J Immunol* 162, 4024-4029 (1999)
- 72. McQuaid S, McMahon J, Herron B, and Cosby SL. Apoptosis in measles virus-infected human central nervous system tissues. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* 23, 218-224 (1997)
- 73. Takikita S, Takano T, Narita T, Takikita M, Ohno M, and Shimada M. Neuronal apoptosis mediated by IL-1 beta expression in viral encephalitis caused by a neuroadapted strain of the mumps virus (Kilham strain) in hamsters. *Exp Neurol* 172, 47-59 (2001)
- 74. Park CH, Ishinaka M, Takada A, Kida H, Kimura T, Ochiai K, and Umemura T. The invasion routes of neurovirulent A/Hong Kong/483/97 (H5N1) influenza virus into the central nervous system after respiratory infection in mice. *Arch Virol* 147, 1425-1436 (2002)
- 75. Maruoka S, Hashimoto S, Gon Y, Nishitoh H, Takeshita I, Asai Y, Mizumura K, Shimizu K, Ichijo H, and Horie T. ASK1 regulates influenza virus infection-induced apoptotic cell death. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 307, 870-874 (2003)
- 76. Kujime T, Hashimoto S, Gon Y, Shimizu K, and Horie T. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase and c-Jun-NH2-terminal kinase regulate RANTES production by influenza virus-infected human bronchial epithelial cells. *J Immunol* 164, 3222-3228 (2000)
- 77. Mori I, Goshima F, Koshizuka T, Koide N, Sugiyama T, Yoshida T, Yokochi T, Nishiyama Y, and Kimura Y. Differential activation of the c-Jun N-terminal kinase/stress activated protein kinase and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways in the mouse brain upon infection with neurovirulent indluenza A virus. *J Gen Virol* 84, 2401-2408 (2003)
- 78. Nelson PJ, Kim HT, Manning WC, Goralski TJ, and Krensky AM. Genomic organization and transcriptional regulation of the RANTES chemokine gene. *J Immunol* 151, 2601-12. (1993)
- 79. Nakai Y, Itoh M, Mizuguchi M, Ozawa H, Okazaki E, Kobayashi Y, Takahashi M, Ohtani K, Ogawa A, Narita M, Togashi T, and Takashima S. Apoptosis and microglial activation in influenza encephalopathy. *Acta Neuropathol* (Berlin) 105, 233-239 (2003)
- 80. Takizawa T, Ohashi K, and Nakanishi Y. Possible involvement of double-stranded RNA-activated protein

- kinase in cell death by influenza virus infection. *J Virol* 70, 8128-8132 (1996)
- 81. Olsen CW, Kehren JC, Dybdahl-Sissoko NR, and Hinshaw VS. Bcl-2 alters influenza virus yield, spread and hemagglutinin glycosylation. *J Virol* 70, 663-666 (1996)
- 82. Zagardo MT, Shanholtz CB, Zoarski GH, and Rothman MI. Rhombencephalitis caused by adenovirus: MR imaging appearance. *Am J Neuroradiol* 19: 1901-1903 (1998)
- 83. Thomas CE, Schiedner G, Kochanek S, Castro MG, and Lowenstein PR. Peripheral infection with adenovirus causes unexpected long-terms brain inflammation in animals injected intracranially with first generation, but not high-capacity, adenovirus vectors: toward realistic long-term neurological gene therapy for chronic diseases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 7482-7487 (2000)
- 84. Thomas CE, Edwards P, Wickham TJ, Castro MG, and Lowenstein PR. Adenovirus binding to the coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor or integrins is not required to elicit brain inflammation but is necessary to transducer specific neural cell types. *J Virol* 76, 3452-3460 (2002)
- 85. Bruder JT and Kovesdi I. Adenovirus infection stimulates the Raf/MAPK signaling pathway and induces interleukin-8 expression. *J Virol* 71, 398-404 (1997)
- 86. Liu Q and Muruve DA. Molecular basis of the inflammatory response to adenovirus vectors. *Gene therapy* 10, 935-940 (2003)
- 87. Thoulouze MI, Lafage M, Yuste VJ, Baloul L, Edelman L, Kroemer G, Israel N, Susin SA, and Lafon M. High levels of Bcl-2 counteracts apoptosis mediated by a live rabies virus vaccine strain and induces long-term infection. *Virology* 314, 549-561 (2003)
- 88. Camelo S, Lafage M, and Lafon M. Absence of the p55 Kd TNF-alpha receptor promotes survival in rabies virus acute encephalitis. *J Neurovirol* 6, 507-518 (2000)
- 89. Hooper DC, Ohnishi ST, Kean R, Numagami Y, Dietzschold B, and Koprowski H. Local nitric oxide production in viral and autoimmune diseases of the central nervous system. *Proc Natl Acad sci USA* 92, 5312-5316 (1995)
- 90. Jackson AC and Park H Experimental rabies virus infection of p75 neurotrophin receptor-deficient mice. *Acta Neuropathol* 98, 641-644 (1999)
- 91. Domachowske JB, Cunningham CK, Cummings DL, Crosley CJ, Hannan WP, and Weiner LB. Acute manifestations and neurologic sequelae of Epstein-Barr

- virus encephalitis in children. Pediatr Infect Dis J 15, 871-875 (1996)
- 92. Hsieh JC, Lue KH, and Lee YL. Parkinson-like syndrome as the major presenting symptom of Epstein-Barr virus encephalitis. *Arch Dis Child* 87, 358-359 (2002)
- 93. Chen SY, Lu J, Shih YC, and Tsai CH. Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein 2A regulates c-Jun protein through extracellular signal-regulated kinase. *J Virol* 76, 9556-9561 (2002)
- 94. Wan J, Sun L, Mendoza JW, Chui YL, Huang DP, Chen ZJ, Suzuki N, Suzuki S, Yeh WC, Akira S, Matsumoto K, Liu ZG, and Wu Z. Elucidation of the c-Jun N-terminal kinase pathway mediated by Epstein-Barr virus-encoded latent membrane protein 1. *Mol Cell Biol* 24, 192-199 (2004)
- 95. Roberts ML and Cooper NR. Activation of Ras-MAPK-dependent pathway by Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein 1 is essential for cellular transformation. *Virology* 240, 93-99 (1998)
- 96. D'Souza BN, Rowe M, and Walls D. The bfl-1 gene is transcriptionally upregulated by the Epstein-Barr virus LMP1, and its expression promotes the survival of a Burkitt's lymphoma cell line. *J Virol* 74, 6652-6658 (2000)
- 97. Kennedy G, Komano J, and Sugden B. Epstein-Barr virus provides a survival factor to Burkitt's lymphomas. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 100, 14269-14274 (2003)
- 98. Morrison TE, Mauser A, Klingelhutz A, and Kenney SC. Epstein-Barr virus immediate-early protein BZLF1 inhibits tumor necrosis factor-alpha induced signaling and apoptosis by downregulating tumor necrosis factor receptor 1. *J Virol* 78, 544-549 (2004)
- 99. Arribas JR, Storch GA, Clifford DB, and Tselis AC Cytomegalovirus encephalitis. *Ann Intern Med* 125, 577-587 (1996)
- 100. Studahl M, Ricksten A, Sandberg T, Elowson S, Herner S, Sall C, and Bergstrom T. Cytomegalovirus infection of the CNS in non-compromised patients. *Acta Neurol Scand* 89, 451-457 (1994)
- 101. Moon MS, Lee GC, Kim JH, Yi HA, Bae YS, and Lee CH. Human cytomegalovirus induces apoptosis in promonocyte THP-1 cells but not in promyeloid HL-60 cells. *Virus Res* 94, 67-77 (2003)
- 102. McCormick AL, Smith VL, Chow D, and Mocarski ES. Disruption of mitochondrial networks by the human cytomegalovirus UL37 gene product viral mitochondrion-localized inhibitor of apoptosis. *J Virol* 77, 631-641 (2003)

- 103. Rodems SM and Spector DH. Extracellular signal-regulated kinase activity is sustained early during human cytomegalovirus infection. *J Virol* 72, 9173-9180 (1998)
- 104. Johnson RA, Huong SM, and Huang ES. Activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase p38 by human cytomegalovirus infection through two distinct pathways: a novel mechanism for activation of p38. *J Virol* 74, 1158-1167 (2000)
- 105. Caserta MT, Mock DJ, and Dewhurst S. Human herpesvirus 6. *Clinical Inf Dis* 33, 1-5 (2001)
- 106. Kong H, Baerbig Q, Duncan L, Shepel N, and Mayne M. Human herpesvirus type 6 indirectly enhances oligodendrocyte cell death. *J Neurovirol* 9, 539-550 (2003)
- 107. Hood C, Cunningham AL, Slobedman B, Boadle RA, and Abendroth A. Varicella-zoster virus-infected sensory neurons are resistant to apoptosis, yet human foreskin fibroblasts are susceptible: evidence for a cell-type-specific apoptotic response. *J Virol* 77, 12852-12864 (2003)
- 108. Hemling N, Roytta M, Rinne J, Pollanen P, Broberg E, Tapio V, Vahlberg T, and Hukkanen V. Herpesviruses in brains in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol* 54, 267-271 (2003)
- 109. Aurelian L. Herpes simplex virus type 2: Unique biological properties include neoplastic potential mediated by the PK domain of the large subunit of ribonucleotide reductase. Front Biosci 3, d237-d249 (1998)
- 110. Loiacono CM, Taus NS, and Mitchell WJ. The herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP0 promoter is activated by viral reactivation stimuli in trigeminal ganglia neurons of transgenic mice. *J Neurovirol* 9, 336-345 (2003)
- 111. Jin L, Peng W, Perng GC, Brick DJ, Nesburn AB, Jones C, and Wechsler SL. Identification of herpes simplex virus type 1 latency-associated transcript sequences that both inhibit apoptosis and enhance the spontaneous reactivation phenotype. *J Virol* 77, 6556-6561 (2003)
- 112. Kriesel JD, Jones BB, Dahms KM, and Spruance SL. STAT1 binds to the herpes simplex virus type 1 latency-associated transcript promoter. *J Neurovirol* 10, 12-20 (2004)
- 113. Hunsperger EA and Wilcox CL. (2003). Caspase-3-dependent reactivation of latent herpes simplex virus type 1 in sensory neuronal cultures. *J Neurovirol* 9, 390-398 (2003)
- 114. Colgin MA, Smith RL and Wilcox CL. Inducible cyclic AMP early repressor produces reactivation of

- latent herpes simplex virus type 1 in neurons in vitro. *J Virol* 75, 2912-2920 (2001)
- 115. Jones C. Herpes simplex virus type 1 and bovine herpesvirus 1 latency. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 16, 79-95 (2003)
- 116. Wang K, Pesnicak L, Guancial E, Krause PR, and Straus SE. The 2.2 kilobase latency-associated transcript of herpes simplex virus type 2 does not modulate viral replication, reactivation, or establishment of latency in transgenic mice. *J Virol* 75, 8166-8172 (2001)
- 117. Hill J, Patel A, Bhattacharjee P, and Krause P. An HSV-1 chimeric containing HSV-2 latency associated transcript (LAT) sequences has significantly reduced adrenergic reactivation in the rabbit eye model. *Curr Eye Res* 26, 219-224 (2003)
- 118. Wachsman M, Kulka M, Smith CC, and Aurelian L. A growth and latency compromised herpes simplex virus type 2 mutant (ICP10-delta-PK) has prophylactic and therapeutic protective activity in guinea pigs. *Vaccin* 19, 1879-1890 (2001).
- 119. Aurelian L and Smith CC. Herpes simplex virus type 2 growth and latency reactivation by cocultivation are inhibited with antisense oligonucleotides complementary to the translation initiation site of the large subunit of ribonucleotide reductase (RR1). *Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev* 10, 77-85 (2000).
- 120. Wilcox CL and Johnson Jr EM. Nerve growth factor deprivation results in the reactivation of latent herpes simplex virus in vitro. *J Virol* 61, 2311-2315 (1987)
- 121. Mori I, Goshima F, Koshizuka T, Koide N, Sugiyama T, Yoshida T, Yokochi T, Kimura Y, Nishiyama Y. The US3 protein kinase of herpes simplex virus attenuates the activation of the c-Jun N-terminal protein kinase signal transduction pathway in infected piriform cortex neurons of C57BL/6 mice. *Neurosci Lett* 351, 201-205 (2003)
- 122. Munger J and Roizman B. The US3 protein kinase of herpes simplex virus 1 mediates the posttranslational modification of BAD and prevents BAD-induced programmed cell death in the absence of other viral proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98, 10410-10415 (2001)
- 123. Benetti L, Munger J, and Roizman B. The herpes simplex virus 1 US3 protein kinase blocks caspase-dependent double cleavage and activation of the proapoptotic protein BAD. *J Virol* 77, 6567-6573 (2003)

- 124. Perkins D, Pereira EFR, Gober M, Yarowsky P and Aurelian L. The herpes simplex virus type 2 gene R1 PK (ICP10 PK) blocks apoptosis in hippocampal neurons involving activation of the MEK/MAPK survival pathway. *J Virol* 76, 1435-1449 (2002)
- 125. Perkins D, Gyure KA, Pereira EFR and Aurelian L. Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1-induced encephalitis has an apoptotic component associated with activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase. *J Neuro Virol* 9, 101-111 (2003)
- 126. Perkins D, Yu Y, Bambrick L, Yarowsky PJ and Aurelian L. Expression of the Herpes Simplex Virus Type 2 Protein ICP10 PK protects neurons from apoptosis due to serum deprivation or genetic defects, *Exp. Neurol.* 174, 118-122 (2002)
- 127. Perkins D, Pereira EFR and Aurelian L. The herpes simplex virus type 2 R1 protein kinase (ICP10 PK) functions as a dominant regulator of apoptosis in hippocampal neurons involving activation of the ERK survival pathway and upregulation of the antiapoptotic protein Bag-1. *J Virol* 77, 1292-1305 (2003)
- 128. Blum S, Moore AN, Adams F, and Dash PK. A mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in the CA1/CA2 subfield of the dorsal hippocampus is essential for long-term spatial memory, *J Neurosci* 19, 3535-3544 (1999)
- 129. Gober MD, Smith CC, Ueda K, Toretsky JA and Aurelian L. Forced expression of the H11 heat shock protein can be regulated by DNA methylation and trigger apoptosis in human cells. *J Biol Chem* 278: 37600-37609 (2003)
- 130. Dobson CB and Itzaki RF. Herpes simplex virus type 1 and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 20, 457-465 (1999)
- 131. Marques AR and Strauss SE. Lack of association between HSV-1 DNA in the brain, Alzheimer's disease and apolipoprotein E4. *J Neurovirol* 7, 82-83 (2001)
- 132. Teodoro JG and Branton PE. Regulation of apoptosis by viral gene products. *J Virol* 71, 1739-1746 (1997)
- **Key Words:** Virus, Infection, Signaling Cascades, Cell Death, Apoptosis, Nervous System, CNS, Encephalitis, Neurodegeneration, Review
- **Send correspondence to:** Dana Perkins, Ph.D, Calspan-University at Buffalo Research Center, INC

Virus signaling and apoptosis in the CNS

(CUBRC), 11 Dupont Circle, NW, 9th floor, Washington, DC 20036, Tel 202-464-6019, Fax 202-265-4490, E-mail: perkins@cubrc.org

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol10.htm